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THE EVO DECONCINI ORAL HISTORY PROJECT: ARIZONA LEGAL HISTORY

HISTORICAL NOTE

In 1385, James F. McNulty, Jr., former U.S5. Congressman
from Arizona and currently an attorney with Bilby and Shoenhair
in Tucson, nroposed that the Arizona Historical Society develop
an oral history project to coilect the reminiscences of senior
judges and lawyers in Southern Arizona. As a former partner in
one of the oldest law firms in the state, in Bishee, he had
long been aware of the wealth of information and experience
expressed in many of his colleague’s lives and careers, some of
whom had been practicing law for over fifty years. In an
effort to preserve and disseminate their stories ang
observations about the professicn, the Archives Department of
the Arizona Historical Society/Tucson developed a pilot program
fFocused on Southern Arizona, with the goal of collecting the
reminiscences of Fifteen to twenty individuals assﬁciated wich
the legal profession over the last Fifty years.

The project was funded through a challenge grant made by
Roy Drachman and money subsequently donated by members of the
Pima County Bar Association and the DeConcini family. At Mr.
Drachman's request, the project was narmed for the late Judge
Evo DeCloncini, a highly-respected member of the Arizona Bar and
a long-time friend.

Most of the interviews were conducted between 13986 and

1888, by Mr. McNulty. Interviews were also conducted by Robert
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Palmguist, Jack August, and Adelaide Elm. Additional
interviews with Jjudges ang attorneys conducted previously for
other oral history projects were included with the DeConcini
Project, to expand the scaope of the project. The narraters,
representing both rural and urban practices, were identified
for inclusiaon by Mr. McNulty and other members of the State
Bar. They included three judges, sixteen attorneys, the wife
of a former state Supreme Court Justice, and the legal
secretary of dne of the oldest law firms in the state. All
transcripts and tapes are available to the public at both the
Arizana Historical Society and the University of Arizona
College of law.

In addition to preserving the recollections of legal
practitioners in Southern Arizona, the Evo DeConcini Legal
History PFroject has spurred the collection and preservation of
primary documents relating to legal history, such as day books,
client ledgers, correspondence and photographs from law firms
and individuals connected with the profession. It is hoped
that the DeConcini Project will serve as a mondel for the
cpllection of such mempirs and historic materials en a state-

wide basis.



THE EVO DECONCINI ORAL HISTORY PROJECT: ARIZONA LEGAL HISTORY

SCOPE AND CONTENT NOTE

This collection consists of 43 cassette tapes (B0 to 90
minutes in length), thirty-two 1l/4-inch audic tapes, and
twenty-one transcripts preoduced for the "Evo DeConcini Oral
History Project: Arizona Legal Histaory" by the Archives
Oepartment of the Arizona Historical Society between 1388 and
1888,

The coliection is arranged in two series: (1) Oral
interviews conducted for the project; and (2) Oral intervieuws
gathered from other projects.

Series One consists of fifteen interviews: (1) Charies
Ares; (23 Ralph W, Bilby; (3 Thomas Chandler; (4) Elizabeth
Daume; (3) Cra DeConcini; (6) Gordon Farley; (73 Martin Gentry;
(8) Thomas L. Hall; (89> Virginia Hash; (10) Norman Hull; (11)
Ashby 1. Lohse; (12) James F. McNulty, Jrc.; €13) James Murphy;
(14) Alton C. Netherlin; (13) Joseph (. Padilla; and (16)
Wesley Polley. Interviews 1, 2, 3, §, 6, 7, B, 10, and 13 uere
conducted by Mr., McNulty., Interviews 11, 1%, 15 and 16 uwere
done by Rcobert Palmguist. Adelaide Elm conducted interviews ‘4,
and 2, and Jack August conducted interview 12.

Series Two consists of five interviews: (17) Harry Gin;
(18) Don Hummel; (19) Hayzel B. Daniels; (202 Rubin Salter;
(21) Rose Silver. The Gin interview was conducted by Bonita

Lam for the "Chinese in Tucson" proaject; Don Bufkin, Acting



Executive Director of the Arizona Historical Society, conducted
the Hummel interview; Richard Harris and Carpl Jensen conducted
the Daniels interviews; Baiza tMuhammad interviewed Salter for
the African-American History Internship Project; and Rose
Silver was interviewed by Mary Melcher for the “Women and Wark:
An Aural Histcrg,“ a joint project of the Arizona Humanities
Courcil and the University of Arizona.

The bulk of the collection deals with the experiences and
chservations of these individuals relating to the legal
profession in Southern Arizona over the last sixty years. The
interviews document the following topics: educaticn
preparatory to the profession (law school, reading law, the bar
exam); legal practice during the Depression, and the influence
of the New Deal; relationships between the legal profession and
politics; the role of judges vis a vis the Bar; the
increasingly litigious nature of society; the effect of social
changes on the practice of law; the experiences of women and
minorities in the profession; and post- World War Il changes in
the legal system. Of particular interest are anecdotes about
particular cases and clients; histories of several old lauw
Firms in Sﬁuthern Arizona; University of Arizona Law School
professors and courses of study; opportunities some had to
practice law without a law degree; and remembrances of the
colorful individuals who influenced the profession in
Territorial days and early statehood.

The collection is valuable for its comprehensive look at



the law profession in Southern Arizona over the first half aof
this century, and its emphasis on the changes which have

occurred within the profession during that period.






James F. MchNulty., Jr., Interview
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James F. HéNultuL,Jr. Interview

James F. McNulty, Jr., born October 18, 13925, grew up in
West Roxbury, Massachusetts. Fallowing graduation from Boston
Latin School in 1544, he served in the military for eighteen
months at Fort McClellan, In 1846 he maoved to Tucson and
enrclled at the University of Arizona in the Caollege aof
Business. In 1950 he married Jackie Boevers and in 1951 he
graduated with an LLB degree from the College of Law.

After graduatiaon, McNulty was hired by one of the oldest
law firms in the state, Gentry and Gentry in Bisbee. While
practicing law, he served six years in the Arizona Senate
{1868-1374)>, where he was selected as the most respected member
in 1370, and three years on the Arizona Board of Regents (1980-
18807, In 1982, he was elected to the U.S. House of
Representatives, where he served on the Interior and Public
Works committees.

Following his congressional term, McNulty assoclated with
the firm of Bilbky and Sheoenhair in Tucson, where he continues
to practice law and maintain an interest in Democratic Party
politics.

The first half of the interview reflects the influences of
MchNulty's upbringing on his later legal and political
involvements. He credits the excellent education he received
at Latin School and his experience as a member of high school
and college track teams with providing & =solid foundation For

his later endeavars. He recalls his years at the University of

iv



Arizona Colleges of Business and Law and mentions various
professors and students with whom he assoclated.

The remainder of the interview deals with McNulty's legal
career in the firm of Martin Gentry in Bisheé, his years in the
State Senate and on the State Beoard of Regents, his long
interest and involvement in politics, his attitude toward the
present of the legal system in the state and his term as a U.5.
Congressman. OF particular interest are his reflections on the

relationship between politics and the law.



JAMES F. McNULTY INTERVIEW

Today is October 6, 1966. We’'re in Tucson, Arizaona, at the
University of Arizona. UWe're interviewing James F. McNulty,
Jr. CInterviewer is Jack August. Alsao present is Tim

MciIntire,

August:

iMfcNulty:

August:

MeNulty:

August:

McNulty:

August :

MeNulty:

sound technician.]

Jim, could we begin with some biographical
information?

Yes, indeed.

When and where uwere yaou born.

October 18, 1925, in Roxbury, Massachusetts.

All right. and any siblings?

I have a sister twa years younger than I and another
sister seven years younger. That’s the fFamily.
Great. Your father and mother, was your dad employed
in Roxbury? |

My fFather, James F. tMcNulty, Sr., was born in
Springfield, Massachusetts, He was the son of Mary
Motherway and John Davies McNulty who were born in
County Cork and County Sligo ireland, respectively.
John Davies McNulty came to Springfleld because his
brother Frank had preceded him from Ireland to New
England, found a job with the rallroad and, as was so
common in those days, Frank wrote back to my
grandfather and said there was a Job as a car knocker
with the Boston and Albany Railroad. And that's how
come that side of the Family were raised there,

1



My mother was born in Providence, Rhode Island.
Her parents were Edward Culi of Aughrane in County
Leitrim and Mary Gollogly from Drumraine, actually
now those places are gone. She ceonsldered, before
she died, the town of Ballinmamore in County Leitrim
as her home toun. The two families lived within
three miles of one another but, as was very common in
those days, Edward Cull and Mary Gollogly did not
know each ather in Ireland but met in Providence,
Rhode Island. She came to work as a maid. He came
to work for the gas company. And my mother was born
in 1898 in Providence. Her Father was killed in an
explosion in the gas company, a manhole, where they
were working.

They both, my four grandparents combined, I
don’t suppose had twenty, twenty-five years of
egducation, cumulatively. But my Father éraduated
fraom Springfleld Technical High School and then did
an additional year learning to be a draftsman for the
Chapman Yalve Manufacturing Company in Indian
Orchard, Massachusetts. My mother graduated From
Providence Classical High Schocl and then spent
another year and learned shorthand and typing and
became a legal secretary in Providence, which, for
immigrant peoples was quite a success. And they met

when he was In Providence on some kind oP business
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McNulty:

August:

McNulty:

aAugust:

MeNulty:

August:

MeNulty:

with Chapman Valve. They married and the company
sent him to Boston, Massachusetts where I was born.
He lived and worked out of Baostaon for Chapman Valve
until he retired in 1862.

Very interesting. Is he still alive?

No. aAll Four grandparents are gone. 0Oh, and both my
parents are deceased as well.

Deceased as well?

Yes.

Therefare your childhood was spent in New England in
the late 1820's, early 1830°’s7?

Yes,

Some of your earliest memories therefore must bhe of
the Crash and the Depressicn. Do you have any
memories of that?

(laughs) No. I don’'t have any memory of that as
such. [ was born in 1525, and by the time the Crash
arrived I was still only Five years old. My fFather
never missed a day of work through the Depression,

We three kids ate, as 1 saw it, adequately., By then
we had moved to West Roxbury, which was regarded as a
step up in scale. We lived in a twe-decker house,
but we had the bottom floor. The houses were ahout
thirty feet apart. We lived on a street called
Oriole Street and as fFar as I know every house had an

Irish-Cathalic family with children, so we had no
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McNulty:

August:
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sense of being torn out of joint or at odds with our
surroundings.

Were you aware of President Hoover, President
Roosevelt? Any change? Were you politically aware
at a very young age?

Well, I think all the industrial states, to a
significant degree, and all the heavily papulated
cities within those industrial states were simply
wild in Favor of Franklin Roosevelt. [ know my
parents certainly were ahd I remember Franklin
Roosevelt coming to Boston to be met by enormous
crowds. He ran extremely strangly everywhere in the
country in 1832 and even more in 1936, but these
kinds of places were really his heartland. The big
east-coast citles. The West in those days didn’t
have the population or the clout, with the exception
of California, to flgure much in the political
process.

Right. Your local enviromment and your elementary
education, I have a few questions about that. First
of all any distinct images of grammar school?

Yes. I went one year to parochial school in Dedham
[Massachusetts] hefore we moved to West Roxbury. It
was a school affiliated with the parish there. But
all my young life I spent, as we used tao éag in those

days, in St. Theresa's parish. That’'s how you
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MehNulty:

identified yourself in the Boston that [ knew., You
might say you were from Jamaica Plain or Raslindale
but you'd also say, I'm from Star of the Sea parish
or St. Theresa’s or Holy Name, whatever. So the
parish was a very significant part of your life. I
went to a public grammar school, the First six years.
It was probably three-quarters of a block from my
home. And I was a very sickly child and sa far that
reason my parents were glad for me to be ablé to go
to a school that was near at hand. I and my two
sisters all went through the Randall G. Morris School
which is there to this day.

I see, Any reason from, any family reason for
changing from the parish to the puhlic school?

Well, after I, | suppose I went to Morris, Randall G.
Morris, instead of the 5t. Theresa's parochial school
because it toock about four-and-a-half minutes, or, 1
don’t know, but it toock a very short period of time
to get to that schoal. The St. Theresa's Parish
School would have been a couple of miles away and it
would have had to have been walked. There wouldn’'t
have been any way there. In high school, though,
there was the opportunity, 1 was going to have to
travel then wherever [ went, public or parochial, but
[ wanted to go to public Latin School and it was

regarded as the superior high schoal in the city and
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by the time we left it, of course, we thought it was
the superior high school in the world., And it
certainly is one of the superior secondary schools of
the world. So I went there. But that invalved scme
considerable effart in travelling.

Interesting.

1 did the six years. You can go there for faour years
or you can gao far six. If you go for six, why you
see, you started in the seventh grade, so I was.
really a pretty skinny frail guy, as were others, at
the age of twelve in Latin School.

You menticned you were, you had some, you were a
little bit sickly. Do you want to elaborate on that
a little bit for the recaord?

I was more than a little bit sickly. wWhen 1 began
the fourth class, as we called it at Latin Schogl, we
didn’'t count grades. Yau went fram the sixth class
through the first class, kind of like an English
school, in many ways, and a first classman was the
cock of the walk., When [ was in the fourth class,
which was the equivalent of freshman year in high
school, I lost something like 140 days and was
required to repeat the fourth class. So--1 was very
susceptible to colds and bronchial troubles and 1 was
very, very frail. 1 think my mother told me ]

weighed sixty~-five pounds when I was twelve years

5]



old. But that all waorked for the best in the sense
that I did an enormous amouﬁt of reading that year in
bed and read about Theodore Roosevelt being similarly
disaffected and how he had run his way to health.

and an returning to Latin School that Following Fall
to begin my Efeshman year over again, I went out for
the track team. And ['m satisfied I was the sorriest
track prospect that public Latln School had seen in
over three hundred years of existence. And I was
very poor, but I was determined, I ran for two
years, in my freshman and sophomore year. 1 never
scored a point. They didn’t even give me a warm—up
suit, which meant I was only sort of on the team.

But they had open svents over at the old West Newton
Street Armory, which 1ls where we ran our indoor track
meets, It was just a great big bullding, and to
accommodate it to track they built these enormous
things, they called them corners, that were made aqut
of plywood. And they were kind of a big triangle set
right at the center of what you'd think of as the
corner. And of course that made an exceptionally
sharp corner and the trick was to run into those
things full tilt and just before you got to them
swing away From the pole, which you would not
ordirarily do in a track race--you want to stay as

close to the pole as ytu can—--and hit that corner
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then in such a fashion that it absolutely propelled
you off the far side of it and threw ycou back towards
the pole. It was kind of tricku, but everyone did it
s0 there wasn't any sense of being discriminated
agalnst.

(laughs) Along the line of your elementarcy, junior
high, high school educatiagn, any sub)ects that early
on you did well in, liked a lot or on the other hand
that you disliked or wanted to stay away from?

I got extremely good grades in elementary school. 1
don’t believe I ever got anything other than an A& in
any subject in any marking period in any year. And
in Latin School I did well, too, until the illness
caught up witbh me. 0Oh, today as I Fancy ift, I think
I liked history and political science more than I did
the cother sciences. But Latin School really wasn’'t
interested in either of those things. For at least
three years we had six classes a day and ore of the
classes was a study hall and of the other five
classes at various times I would have been taking
English, Latin, French, and German. So that left the
field fairly thin for other courses. In 3ix years in
Latin 5chool you were allowed, when you were a third
classman, the equivalent of your sophomore year, you
were allowed to decide whether you would take tuo

years of Greek or two years of German. Now you had
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to Justify the choice. IF you were going intao
medicine you’'d ask for German., If you were doing
into law and asked for German they’'d tell you to
elther take up medicine or take Greek.

Okay.

But that’'s all the optians there uere.

At this time, in your adolescence, international
events are perhaps foremost in American political
affairs. Did the impending war in Germany, any of
those events have any 1mpact on you and your family
in any direct way?

My strongest recollection along those lines was the
day that Pearl Harbor was hombed. Well, I was
Fifteen years old then, you see.

Yes.

But then I don’t remember having any strong feelling
or much lnternational awareness prleor to that time.
But the bambing of Pearl Harbor was such a stunning
thing that the memory of that is very clear.
Especially, that was on a Sunday, of course, at mass
that morning the choir instead of singing “Holy God
We Pralse Thy Name" as the recessional--which it
seems to me we had done for three hundred years
before that, that may be an exaggeration-—-sang some
song-—I don’'t remember, "America," or--but a

patriotic song. And that memory is very vivid in my
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mind because it was so different from what had gone
befaore.

Yes. Therefare Hitler, Germany and the involvement
in Europe had little impact . . .

r . ..

+ + . you Just knew what was going on?

That’s not quite so. Because ! do remember going to
a play at the old Wilbur Theatre in town in which
this emerging brute of Naziism was dealt with in a
dramatic way. And I do remember professors, or
masters as we called them in Latin School, talking
about Hitler in condemnatory tones. and Boston Latin
Schoel was about forty percent Irish-Cathaolic and
Forty percent Jewish and, of course, the Jewish kids,
they were much more sensitized to all this business.
The truth is though, that for some of the, the Irish
with brutal tendencies, the idea that a Hitler wauld
arise and do enormous damage to Great Britain was a
point in the guy’s favor. Not mine and not any of my
close relatives,

Yes,

But in the larger Irish society I heard
congratulatory things sald about Hitler and the
Germans as finea people and there'd been some minor
German assistance to the Irish in World War I when

Sir Roger Casement was caught, convicted and hanged

10
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For trying to import weapons. And it's true that
Ireland rightly regarded England’s time of peril as
Ireland’'s moments of opportunity.

Interesting. Also, in the kind of cultural
environment of Boston during this periad probably the
praeminent institution in the area of higher learning
is Harvard. Did Harvard and growing up around
Harvard have any impact on your life as a young
person?

Well, kids from my background, Harvard was & very,
very long distance away. Latin Schoeol annually won
the prize for sending more students to Harvard
University than any other schoel, including Exeter,
or Phillips Academy at Exeter which was regarded as
the preparatory school for Harvard. But we were a
big high schaol. We had as many as, oh, 2400 kids
spread over the six classes. They really thimmed out
though. You could not assume from that that there
were 400 in each class, because Latin Schaocl had a
ferocious fail figure. So of the four hundred kids
you began with you'd lose probably a third of them in
the First two years. And then they allowed kids to
come in at the ninth grade level for four years.

Well that swelled your class up again., But ] think
we wereg still lucky to graduate 385 kids per year.

Well, sure, Harvard was regarded as a remarkable

11
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thing. I never had the falntest ldea of going to
Harvard because we didn’'t have that kind of money. I
think my father was earning in the bottom of the
Depression about sixty dollars a month, although I
know people that say that was a damned good wage in
1935. Nothing to be ashamed of. But Harvard really
seemed entirely beyond my grasp, but not college.
Latin School insisted that ane hundred percent of its
graduates go to college and they did not often miss
that Figure. Not even through the depression times.
And they were good about trying to find scholarships.
But this was the old hard times. Kids worked
Incredibly hard to get adequate grades and to get
adequate money to go back to get some more adequate
gtrades. And it was a kind of a commitment I dan’t
think kids have ta make these years. But that was
the circumstances of the time too. The nation was
really aon its uppers, so to speak. So when [ did get
into Harvard, some years after this, not very long,
why tﬁat was quite a Feather in my cap and I Felt
very good about it. But that was alsao & function,
not merely of Latin School, but the G.I, Bill., And
importantly so.

Yes. To go back for a little bit, For the better
part of the war you wer2 a teenager.

1 was.

ig2
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Did you have any invalvement in the mobilization
effort before you entered the army in 13447
Yes. I kept gaing down trying to get into the air
corps. Every kid I knew wanted to be in the air
corps. And I went to one recruiting station, I
flunked that thing they call it the Ishihara dot
test. [t’'s a bunch of colored dots. They’'re just in
light shades and there’s a pattern of those shades
that more or less makes a number on this, oh,
photograph-size thing with these different colored
dots. But I couldn’'t begin to see that. So I uent
to another recruiting statlon a little while later
and I flunked that, too, and they wouldn’t have me,
But we were very consclous of that because, you
see, I was eighteen in 1943 and eighteen-year-olds
were going to the ermy. That was the moment of our
most desperate need of cannon fodder. [ got almost a
five-month hiatus because the chairman of the draft
board in West Roxbury was Professor Cheatham, the
head of the mathematics department of Boston Latin
School. And I wanted te run., You see, by this time
I had become falrly good. When I was a junior I ran
for Latin School and we set a record in a one-and-a-
half-mile relay, and I came in sixth in an event they
called the regimentals. Every high school in the

city of Boston competed in this event at this armory

13



that [ mentioned. Well the competition was fierce
bectause Bastaon had, oh, between three-quarters of a
million and a million people in the city limits those
days. So as a junior to come in fourth in the four-—-
forty, why [ knew that I was on my way to bigger and
better things. And I wanted to run my senlor year,
which would have been the spring of 194%. But as 1
said, being eighteen since October 1B8th made that
unlikely.

So, the high schuol'and the colleges in the
Boston area--of which there are a large number--got
together and made a deal and said that 1f senior kids
Finished the equivalent of their first semester--ue
didn't have semesters in those days--by Christmas
with good grade averages, the high schools would
allow them to matriculate at any college or
university of their choice and if they got passing
grades in that semester of college, the high school
would accept that as the eguivalent of work at the
high school. It was a way to put warm bodies in the
colleges that were desperate for students or even
non-students if they would enroll. So I went to
Boston College, a Jesult School, which is prgbably
where I would have gone if [ had not had the G.I.
Bill, It wasg for poor kids, and they were

predominately Irish kids I think, though the Italian
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community was really beginning to grow in those days.
Why I went out there and i think eight days after I
gigned up I was a member of the Boston College mile
relay team, competing against Holy Crass, the great
rival of Boston College, in the B.A.A. games, the
Boston Athletlc Assoclation games, in Boston Garden,
the same Boston Garden that the Celtics play in
today.

My goedness. Did you do well?

We won, and cne of the members of our team was a
fellow named Herbert McKinley who was from Jamaica.
His father was a dentist down there. mMcKinley won
the Olympics in 1948 in the 440. So that was life in
the fast lane for me. Running there that night in
Boston Garden and--there were a bunch of Latin School
kids up in the stadium hollering and I felt pretty
good about myself. C(laughter) The following week we
went to tMadison Square Garden and ran in what they
call N.Y.A.C., the New York Athletic Club games which
was another premier indoor track event in those
years. UWe were beaten this time, though, by the
University of Raochester, which had become a big naval
training station and like the Great Lakes Naval
Training Station they had recruited athletes into
their schools. Great Lakes had a great Footbhall

team; Rochester had a great track team., Five days
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later I was inducted at Fort Devons, Massachusetts.
Okay. How long were you there?

In Fort Devons?

Yes.

Oh, I suppeose a week at the most. That was the same
place my father was inducted in World War 1,
incidentally. Then off to Anniston, Alabama, Fort
McClellan, where | stayed for about eighteen months.
I was held back as cadre after I completed seventeen
weeks of basic training. Most of the other guys went
into the 106th Division, which was all kids and old-
timers and utterly unprepared for war, and the
Germans found them in the so-called Battles of the
Bulge and Finished, aliminated, that division 1In a
space of two or three days; and made the enormous
hreakthrough, oh, probably twenty-five miles or more
into France and Belgium and isclated General
McAuliffe and his paratroopers at Bastogne.

Yes.

But it was the last gasp of the German war machine.
And after von Rundstedt had completed that it was all
over and the Russians, the Americans and the British
Just marched as fast as they could, or as Fast as the
vehicles would take them, The war was not long to
ga.

Therefore, you spent most of the war then in
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Alabama .

McNulty: Yes.

August: . +» . or yaur part of the war?

McNulty: Right. 1 never was overseas.

August: Not aoverseas. 0Okay. Upon the cessation of
hastilities, gou've mentioned earlier you toock
advantage of the G.I. Bill,

McNulty: I returned to Boston.

August: All right.

MeNulty: 1 wanted to go to Harvard., I went to see Francis
Cleary, who was the counselar for the [Boston Latin
Schooll seniors. He said, "Harvard will take a feuw
kids in January"—--this was October, 1394S.

dugust: He said, "We’ll take a few kids and"--I'm sorry, I
can’t remembher 1f it was 1844t or 1545. What. . .

August: It was probably 134S.

McNulty: When did I get out of the army?

August: It says here 1945,

McNulty: Okay. Then it was October of 1945 and Cleacy said,
"Harvard will take a few kids in January." e do
that all the time these days, but that was kind of
breaking the pattern. But he said, “I don’t imagine
they'll take over Fifty kids and ['ve heard that
there are 700 wanting, trying to get in." So he told
me who to go see in Cambridge and I did. and the guy

confirmed those figures and said, "We will give an
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eight-hour examination Saturday before Christmas and
the best fifty or sixty scores will be admitted to
Harvard." So I took this--that was the longest test
I1'd ever taken——and received my admission to Harvard.
And we signed up--my mother was very pleased with
that-—and I started making arrangements to begin the
first week in January of 1946 at Harvard.

And then I got sick again. And that went on for
abaut a month and I spoke to the doctor that I had
had ever since I was a child, a Fellow named John
Reardon Barry, a blg handsome Irish fellow who did
most of his work by coming to the homes of relatively
poor people we were, and then did the rest of his
work at nights. The parents and kids all went down
to the doctor’s office from about six to nine
Lo’clock] at night. He would work Five nights a
week. So I got into kind of an argument with him
about my perceived deficiencies in medical science
and the inability to keep me well and I remember him
saying, "Well I can stralghten you out in a2 hurry.
But you wan’'t do what I tgll you." And 1 challenged
him right away. And he said, "Go down to the South
Station and go to New Mexico or Coclorado or Arizona
or one of those places." And I told him, by damn,
that's exactly what I was going to do.

I spoke a little rashly, of course, because I
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had no plans like that (laughter), but [ speedily
made them and on January S5, 1846, I got off the
Chicago coach here in Tucson and walked across the
street to the McArthur Hotel and told the guy I'd
like a rocom for the night. He asked me if I had a
reservation and it was on the tip of my tongue to
say, "A Flea-bag like that needing a reservatlon
seemed a bit much." I told him, no, and he sald come
back in May.

Seriously?

Yes, So I went back to the Travellers’' Ald which was
a great volunteer service, mainly the women of
America, fFor the service people. And I, I was
wearing army clothes, as were all the other students,.
That's what we wore until we wore them out. She told
me, “There’s a room up near the University." And I
said, "That'’s what I want."” She said, “"It's the last
roam in town, I think, and it's not very nice. It’'s
Five dollars and a cab ride will cost you about sixty
cents."” Up I went. It was 207 East Third Avenue.
Okay.

You know, it's nine blocks from where we're sitting
right now, abaut.

Yes.

I found out later it was a home for tuberculars, but

I didn’t know that at the time and I was very tired.
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An old slattern of a woman met me at the decor and
demanded the five dollars before she’d let me through
the door. I paid her gladly. She showed me into a
raaom with a big, extra big, we'd say queen-size or
king-size bed now. But {t was a homemade, ugly-
looking bed, but it was entirely comfortable. So I
took 2 shower, jumped into that bed and slept better
than I've slept since, probably. (laughter) And
woke up in the morning and there was another guy in
the bed. She had sold the other half of the bed fFor
another five dollars and that was my introduction to
Arizana hospitality.

Interesting, your earliest impressions of Tucson,
What did you do? Bid you Just knock around?

I liked it at once. And I’m not sure why. It, there
wasn't a whole lot to see in 1946. The touwn pretty
well petered out by the time you got out here, say,
to Tucson Boulevard. [ had to walk back and forth tao
school from the 200 block--well lst’s see, Park is
800, so it would be seven blocks. I met ancother
veteran going through registration, a fellow that--
I'm still in contact with him occasionally. And he
had a car and we wound up renting this room that I'm
telling you about, only we replaced the bed with bunk
beds, and the twno of us stayed there that first

semester. To think though, I came here sick.
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Yes.

And in the Border Conference track meet in May we won
the Border Conference track meet, I finished third
in the 440. I ran a lap on the winning mile-relay
team and ['ve never looked back, since.

(laughs?) That's interesting. You were ready ta
matriculate at Harvard and ended up here at the

u. of A.

Yes,

n the track team.

Yes.

You went straight through here?

1 went to see Registrar . Z2aner Lesher. Zip Lesher.
He used to be the tennis coach. His son is an
attorney here in town teday. He took the transcript
from Latin School, and he just kept making these
admiring sounds, "Oh, fine. Splendid." He, of
course he liked the curriculum and so he was very
pasitive, very encouraging to me at that time and I
entered College of Business.

Okay. College of Business, Straight through. You
made your undergraduate major in business?

I, Yes. For two-and-a-half years. I worked summers
in Yuma. I tied up with a fellow named Jack CJohn
H.J] Bryant wha is a nephew of George CW.l Chambers,

who was the business manager of the old Tucson
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Newspapers and later a publisher of flne books called
Arizona Silhouettes. 1In Fact, you may have seen some
of those things.

Yes.

And you may look at some of the wood carvings in the
Arizona Silhouettes and you'll see the name Bryant.
And that would have been this Jack Bryant'’'s brother
Bill Cuwililam H.) Bryant, who is a good writer and
quite an artist in his oun right. Well, Bryant had
an uncle over in Yuma who was the mayor of the town
and sald he could get us Jjobs in the cantaloupe sheds
In 1846. I went down there and made 100 dollars a
week.

A week?

A week! I had so much maney ! went and, for the only
time in my life, hired a barber to give me a shave.
{laughter?> So you know that I was in tall cotton.
Still, 1t must have been difficult work in the summer
in Yuma. You must have lost weight.

Well, I with the track, you know I ran at about 153
pounds. And I'm sure I weighed that for the entire
five-and-a-half years here. And the day I graduated
I ballooned up to 170 and that's thirty-five years
ago and that's what I weigh tonight, and always have.
But you've got to run skinny. You sure do.

Sure.
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And the heat,‘I don't know. 1 was so healthy and
things were so Fine for me I don’'t have anything but
very warm recpllections of those years. And at the
end of two-and-a-half I was told that if you had
eighty units with a € average and you want to go to
law school, you just walked over and started going to
law schocol. So I did that.

Wow. So you didn’t really get an undergraduate
degree.

No, naver did.

You just had a nice kind of transition over to the
Callege of Law?

I did. 1 went over there in 1848. And three ysars
later I had an LLB., Now if I will mail the
University of Arizona that degree and twenty-flive
dollars, they will award me a J.0D., Doctor aof
Jurisprudence degree, But I don’t helieve in
retrofitting people. My ambition is to live so long
that ['m the last living holder of an LLB degree. 1
must say, though, that this guy named Tom [Thomasl
Chandler intends to contest that honor with me very
vigorously.

Claughs) Okay. A little bit about the law school.
0o you recall any of your prefessors?

Yes. [ recall every one of them,

Every one of them?
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Every single one.

Any one that at least tonigﬁt we can discuss?

Well, John [D.] Lyons [Jr.] was the dean. He had
been a superior court judge. His wldow lives here in
town and his kids are around too. And 1 think one of
them is a lamger. I know one’s a lawyer. Another
one lives right, almost next door to me in Tucson
today, down in Snob Hollow. He was from New York.

He was not a well man. He, he was the image of the
noble patrician., He was an exceptionally fair and
gentle, thoughtful man and he was an outstanding
teacher. And [ feel capable to make those judgments
because [ think Boston Latin School must have had
some of the finest teachers that ever lived, many of

whom could have served as models for Gogodbye, Mister

Chips. aAnd Theodore White, who recently died, who

wrote the books The Makings of the President, he

wrote a book on Latin School, where he identified
some of the teachers he remembered.

I remember Chester [(H.] Smith., He may have been
the Finest teacher of all. He had a passion to teach
and he wanted you to, to bhe taught. And he wanted
you to learn. He also gave the bar review every
year, and he was an ocutstanding man. And I remembsar
Claude [H.] Brown, of whom every warm body in law

school was in deadly fear, He had a very slow, dry
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way and he used a Socratic method of teaching and I
think if you did not tremble walking into his rcom
you were a candidate for rigor mortis. He just
recently passed away. He was an oqutstanding teacher.
I had a teacher named Art [Arthurl Henderson in
Corporations, who was a partner in the lauw firm in
which I am now a member. He taught on the side and
he's remembered around the firm as being one of the
very brilliant people, perhaps the most brilliant
persen who went through this Firm where very many
télented people had worked. And he was an
exceptionally bright and capable man.

Maybe this is a bit of a contemporary question. Do
you recall very many women in law school with you at
that time?

No.

Were there any?

Yes. My seat-mate was Mary Anne Reimann, who later
became Mary Anne Richeg and she later became a
Federal district judge and I was a good friend of
hers and very proud when she was appainted ta the
bench. She bore up being the only woman in very good
spirits., She was a little alder. 5he’d Flown planes
as a ferry pilot for the Alr Force. Not in the
servica, although, goocd God knows, men in the service

did things that were less dangerous than what she
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did. And for whom only belatedly and begrudgingly
the government made some, oh, halfway decent kinds of
things to provide some henefits to which they were
richly entitled. And I guess she’'s the woman that I,
and the only woman if that's so, perhaps so, that I
remember from law school. And there weren’t any
black kids and there weren’t any, hardly any hispanic
kids

Yes, Any native Americans?

No. |

Well, that’s not surprising at that time. According
to your record here, you were admitted to the Bar in
1951,

I was.

Was there a bar examlnation at the time uou had to
take?

Oh, yes. Yes. It was a two-and—a-hﬁlf day
examinatlion and it was conducted here at law school.
It was given after the six weeks of bar preparation.
Chester Smith tauwght that out in his back yard and on
his porch. And 1t was seven ag’clock to nine-thirty
Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday,
Saturday. And then seven to nine-thirty at night
Sunday, Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday, Friday.
And then some kids took a course or two after that

session in the morning. That's a pretty intense kind
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of an effort, you see, and then into the bar two-and-
a-half days and then off we went to various places.
Do you recall how you felt after taking it? Did you
feel you passed?

Oh, I think I felt principally a feeling of relief
that all of that was behind. [ don’t think I had a
firm feeling on whether I’'d passed or not. And I
don’t think most of us did. I don’t think we knew
enough to know whether what we had ansuered was
satisfactory. Very few of us typed. We wrote it out
in long hand. They were all essay gquestions. And,
my goodness, it took an awful long time for these bar
review, or bar examination folk to read those things
and grade them.

Yes.

I'm sure we didn’'t hear--August, September—--for three
menths.

Three months?

Tape 1, Side 2

August:

McNulty:

Besides yourself, are there any distinguished members
of your class worth noting, or that you can recall?
Well, Earl tH.] Carroll is a federal district Jjudge
in Phoenix now. He was a classmate and a friend of

mine while he was there. And, well, the uUdalls have
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heen to law school--if you’'re talking about who
graduated in 1851 I have a hard time knowing that
because so many veterans, and they had by then gone
to summer sessions of law school. And crying ocut
loud, the guys were graduating all year long. So ue
didn’t have the same rigidly defined classes in terms
of years, the year that you began, the year that you
graduated, that you do now.

Yes.

But I do remember all of them. DOean tCharles E.]
Ares, he was a little bit after me. I don’'t think of
myself as aged, but I guess aover 95 percent of the
members of the State Bar of Arizona today have been
sworn in since | was sworn in.

1 see. Before we leave this period of your career
and your life--and I'm referring here to something
that you’ve Jjotted down--how, or perhaps more
precisely, why did you enter the law, the legal
profession?

I suppeose because I hung around with a lot of law
students. 1 think of Harry [W.l Bagnall and Ed CF.
Edwardl Larkin. I lived in a building that I just
passed an hour ago coming up Third Street, or
University as you now call it. 1It's called
Frankiins, but when 1 was here it was a small sort of

dormitory. Mrs. Solomon, Hattie LF.J Solomon--that
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would be the Bloom and Fernlfamilg; her daughter that
married the tennis player, Dutch--] think he's still
around here--they rented out rcoms on the second
€loor of the house and [ roomed with a guy ramed
Harry Bagnall who was the cashier at the Varaity Inn,
an old place Qlth pillars on it where 1 worked as
waiter for three years. There’'s nothing of that left
now, but if you went down to University Square from
here it would have been, oh, about the second
building on the left as you walked westerly.

Okay.

That was owned by an old fellow named Manny Kaplan
who had come from Russia. He used to teach me
Russian expressions. He had fled before czarist
pogroms. He was a Jew. He had two children. He
lived in a little old, not much of a hcuse on Sixth
Avenue and ran this restaurant. His son is chief of
psychiatry of Cedars of Lebanon, a big fancy hospital
in Los Angeles nmow. Manny was admitted to Harwvard
Medical after he graduated from the University of
Arizona, a very bright kid. And he got married back
in Boston and my parents went to the wedding. UWs
kept up those ties. And Manny would let me sleep in
the back of the place--and all that's kind of Funny
because [ finally wound up in 1951 down in Bisbee,

Arizona, with a guy named Martin Gentry wha had lived
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at the Varsity Inn himself as a freshman at the
University of Arlzona, and had worked for the owner,
who then was J. F., McKale, later director of
athletics at the University of Arizona.

Dkay. Interesting. Before we leave this period of
your life, one of the key, 1 guess, events in many
people’'s live is marriage. When, how did this
happen? At this time, you met your wife?

I met Jacquie [Jacquelinel Boevers when ! was in the
Phi Delta Theta fraternity house. She was in the Pi
Beta Phi house. We bhoth worked on publications at
the University of Arizona. This fellow Jack Bryant,
to whom [ referred some time ago with respect to
cantaloupes——-he's now a medical doctor with the
Rockefeller Foundation--talked the student council
into publishing a literary magazine called Lit,
L-I-T.

Yes,

That only survived as long as Bryant and I were here
to publish it, but it was devoted to serious works of
fiction and non-fiction and poetry. And I’'ve still
got the capies of that. I thought it was a pretty
decent thing at the time. And I alsa worked on the
campus humor magazine, called the Kitty Cat, which--
they don’t have those, which is Just as well, because

if they did today they’'d be so vulgar you’d need
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gloves to pick them up. But, [ got to know her then.
And I don’'t remember what year, perhaps 1848, and we
were married in 1350, in September.

After I finished working with this fellow Harry
Bagnall, who I named a little while ago, who had left
law school, gone to Coolidge, become City Attarney
and talked the mayor, a fellow named Ben Arnold--who
later became very well known as the chairman of the
Arizona State Senate Appropriations Committee and a
very good friend of the University of Arizona.

Arnold hired me and he gave me fifty dollars a week
and the Coolidge Public High School system gave me
Fifty dollars a week. So I made & hundred dollars a
week there, and I don’'t think I spent thirty-seven
cents through the three menths, and so with that sock
Jacquie and I got married in 1850.

By then ['d used up my track eiigibility and Dr.
Emil LL.] Larson had found where I'd competed in some
dumb meet with Western New Mexlco or something and he
wouldn't let me run in the gpring of 1951. He said
I'd used up my eligibility. UWhen [ see what gaoes on
today I think, there should be a warm spot in heaven
for anybody that had to obey the kind of rules I had
to obey. But that was a very shattering thing
because my G.I. Bill had run out and Limey C[F. Toml

Gibbings, my Ffriend the track coach, I figured he
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can’t keep me on if I can’'t compete for him. But he
solved it by talking fMcKale into appointing me
freshman track coach. And if you’'ll loock at the 13851
Desert you will see James McNulty with a whistle
around his neck and wearing a cap and a jacket and
described as the freshman track coach. So that
pulled me through that periocd of time.

And the next thing I had to do was find work and
as a guy from another state in a time when it was a
buyers’ market, I didn’'t do very well in terms of
generating any job offers and I finally went to
ﬁcKale. [ fFigured he’'d saved me ance before-—-no good
turn should go unpunished--maybe he’'d save me again.
I did. And he said, "Well, I have a friend down in
Bisbee, Arizona--two of them in fact--brothers, named
Jim and Martin Gentry. Would you like to practice
there?" [ said, "I don't knaw. I’'ve never heen
there."” "Well," he said, “I'll call them up." He
called them up, and they said, "Tell him to get in
his car and drive down here." It was ten o’'clock in
the morning and I got in the car and [ drove to
Bishee, Arizona, where [ had lunch with Jim Gentry.
Martin Gentry by then had had toc go somewhere.
Yes.
And one thing led to another. They paid me three

hundred dollars a month and when I got word in Boston
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where I had gone after the bar because [ didn’t have
any work and | had a wife and a kid and 1 didn’t have
any job and I was waiting to hear from the Bar. They
said, "Get back out here."” And I drove back out in
October of 1951, and began work in Bisbee, Arizana.
What kind of work did you irnitially do at the firm?
Just about anything?

Anything., There was, there wasn’t any specialty at
all in those days. There isn’t a whole lot today,
although we’re moving in that direction and that’s
something about which 1 have mixed feelings. But I
did anygthing. I went to the justice court and the
superior court and--they had a good practice. That's
the oldest law Firm in Arizona.

Yes.

It started in 1913 with a guy named Fred Sutter, a
democrat who was appointed superior court Jjudge of
Cochise County immediately after statehood in 1812.
He kept the joh eight months and said, "“The hell
with it. It doesn't pay anything." He came
downtown; started a law practice., In the tuwenties he
hired Jim Gentry.

All right.

He died in 1940 and after Martin Gentry came back
From flve years in the navy in Uorld War I1 Jim

Gentry hired him. Then the two of them hired me, and
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so on., S0 we still have all the records of that firm
going back to 1913.

That ls significant. Do you recall your first case?
The first case you worked on with Gentry or is that
the kind, . ., 7

No. 1 think perhaps the first thing I ever did I got
appointed by Judge {Frank E.J Thomas. He was the
only Judge for Cochise County in those days. And
there was a young socldier wha had shot a hog and
butchered it. And, of course, Cochise County is the
real West and fooling around with another man’s
animals is very serious_stuff indeed. You know the
old Texas expression, they say you give a murderer
thirty days in jail and a harse thief the gas
chamber. And to explain that the fellow says, "I’'ve
known a lot men needed killing, but I never knew a
horse needed stealing." So that 1s the faticnale for
all that. and I, I defended this guy and the cattle
people, aven though it was a hog the principal was
the same, were very, very much offended with all of
this business. Then the complaining witness was a
kind of a tough old bird named John Sala. He claimed
that it was a domestic hog. But his neighbors told
me that they once had been domestic hogs but that he
was too frugal to feed them and they finally turned

into feral hogs and Jjust ran wild across the land,
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Sao as part of the defense in the case I subpoenaed
Sala’'s records of Feed that he had purchased in the
last year to take care of these hogs. And, of
course, he had none. And the jury acgquitted

Private--his name was Rohinsaon, I think. Yes. So

that’'s my first case. And the Arizona Cattlelog,
that was the journal of the Arizona Cattle Growers?
Yes.

I think it’s still called that today. Contained an
article about the terrible miscarriage of justice and
named the culprits that had contributed to it.

Well, during the fifties then, you are in Bishee.

How long did you stay in your practice down there?
Well, I think I may fairly say ! stayed in it until I
took the oath of office in the Congress in January of
1983.

Alright.

Even though I was in the State Senate and on various
hoards.

Dkay. We've got to stop.

Tape off briefly then turned back on.

August:

Okay. e left off talking a bit about your legal
career and perhaps one of the topics that you could

discuss in reflecting on your legal career is the
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degree to which society ls more litigicus now than it
was, say, when you began your legal career in 13851,

I think we are more so as we’ve dropped the role of
institutions in settling quarrels. And as,
especially as | see it, as we’ve dropped organized
religion from an ever-present fact of life we Just
seem to have decided that the courts are the place,
perhaps out of dasperation, but that they are the
place for the resolution of questions that nobody
else seems to be able toranswer. For example, we
have critically ill people connected to some life
support systems and we see people going to court
asking the judge for an order allowing us to pull the
plug on the machine. And we’ll see someong else
going to court seeking injunction against a judge
granting somebody the right to pull the plug on the
machine. And we see questlions involving children.
These surrogate parents now.’/ We're asking the Jjudge
to decide whether the child belongs te the male who
contributed the seed that spawned the child or
whether the woman that brought the embryo from embryo
status to birth has some special rights in a child
that was not otherwise physiologically hers. And
then all these questions regarding child custedy.

And we’re stretching the system beyond anything it

was ever designed to confront and to deal with in a
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Judicicus way . And we're going to get some peculiar
decislons because it has always been true that hard
cases make bhad law.

Well now, people ask, “Where this apparatus was
before?" I remember a very famous, though not
published, trial down in Bishee in the Elks Club when
the Elks were confronted with a misbehaving memher of
their group and they tried to handle that in the Elks
Club and that was not uncommon. 1[I knew church
organizations that did the same thing. Some of them
fairly recently. That's a place where you could iron
out a quarrel without involving the publicly funded
Judiclial system,

Within the judicial system, we adopted a rough
American equivalent of the English squire system in
that we hired people whom we called the justices of
the peace whose authority only went so far. But up
to that point it was rather plenary authority and you
were counting not so much on well researchgd, refined
delicate opinions of the law as we were on plain
garden variety horse sense. And when we found
somebody with common sense we let him, occasionally
her, bg the Jjustice of the peace and it's, it’s
surprising even today the degree to which a justice
of the peace can bring somebody into his or her court

and say now I'm ordering you to do this or that.
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There could bhe made a gocd legal case for the premise
that the jurisdiction really didn’t go that far. But
it’'s surprising the degree tao which people confronted
with that kind of an order will obey the justice of
the peace. And that’s probably wholesome. Of course
that authority can be abused, but we have meathods of
checking it.

Well, then with the proliferation of lawyers,
I've forgotten the number per thousand increase over
the span of my thirty-five years in the business, but
I guess we have perhaps a ratio that's a thousand
times higher than, for example, Japan, which has a
very limited role of the lawyers in public life. Now
people have claimed that when you have one lawyer the
law business isn’'t any good in a town at all. When
you have two it's a goocd deal better and if you get
up to three or four and it's enormously bettar. 'How
do you explain that? Well, for the cynics it’s
explainable by the fact that the lawyers cause the
controversy. For the dewy-eyed it’s a question of
injustices that wauld otherwise never have been
righted now being righted because we have the
structure to accomplish it. [ suspect the truth is
somewhere hetween those two things, that lawyers
probably do contribute scmewhat to the

contentioysness of a sccliety and so For all of those
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reasons, our, our Jjudicial system has strained very
nearly beyond its ability to respond.

So even Iin the short time, relatively short time that
you'‘ve been in the legal profession you think that
we've become incredibly more litigious than . . .
Well not incrédiblg, because [ do believe it you see.
But enarmously more, yes,

Okay. Another important topic, and I think certainly
clese to you and your career, has to do with politics
and the law profession.

Yes.

And we can probably start with that general kind of
topical area. Perhaps from your personal perspective
and then maybe to speculate a blt ahout it.

The extremely high correlation between legal training
and palitical performance, especially in the
legislative field, is so often overloocked., UWe
sometimes think that we’d be better off to get
lawyers out of government and particularly out of
law. But that's silly, because nobody comes better
grounded in Fundamentals, especially to legislative
work, [ say that again, than a lawyer. The drafting
of a law is kind of touchy business. And For the
person who does not want to do anything more than
superficially review the metaphysics of drawing laws,

why this person would fall back on morality. Well
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that’'s just silly. Law, in a free society, is a
minimum tolerable code of social conduct, below which
if you fall the rest of wus, society, will invoke
sanctions against you. Morality, on the other hand,
though law is a floor, morality on the other hand is
not a celling, because [ perceive no limitations on
morality. I don't think you can only be soO moral and
then not be more so. So the analogy falls down if
you try to compare a ceiling to a floor. The lauw,
and we seem to have to learn this lesson over again
every generation, is only the least that you can do,
And anyone who only obeys the law doesn’t contribute
anything to scciety, and no one should ever hboast
that he or she obeyed the law. For god sakes, that
is a minimum performance, not worthy of anything
ather than, so what, that’'s what you're suppaosed to
do. It was interesting to me yesterday that the
second reading at the Roman Cathalic Mass, which is
the 0ld Testament--or herhaps it was the first
reading--was from the prophet Habakkuk, and the last
sentence of the reading said something about, "You
claim to have done your duty and we say that amounts
to naothing”. It’'s what you are supposed to do, much
in the spirit of what I am saying--though I, my
lecture on this is of some years’ vintage. So, when

you want to tell somebody what he can't do, or she
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can't do, you better have an understanding of what
the law is, [ had a client who once asked me,
looking at the Arizona Revigsed Statutes, all tuwenty-
some volumes, “"Isn’'t there one up there that says you
have to pay your bllls?" Interesting enough, of
course, there is no law that says you have to pay
your bills. There’'s a law that tells me what I can
de to you if you don't pay your hill, but there’s no
law that says you have to do it. So most asre lauws
couched in terms of things that we Farhid you to do,
clvlil and criminal as well. And a lawyer ought to
have a special sense of all that. The Congress is
more than half trained in the law. Now the western
states, nat Califernia, but the Rocky Mountain states
tend not to have many lawyers in their legislatures.
Well that, for all that the cynic on the street may
think otherwise, does create problems which most of
the legislatures in the Raocky Mountain states have
solved by creating legislative counsels which are
made up aof trained lawyers, to whom the non-lauwyer
goes and says, "I want a law that stops this practice
or that practice”" and then lets the lawyer draw it.
So, writing laws has a very, in my view,
distinguished symbolism about it all. Biblically the
lawgivers are the people whom we most revere,

beginning with Moses, and so we think of writing laws
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as a task of enormous and solemn responsihility. And
I'm proud of having been trained in the law and of
having had that background to prepare me to work in
legislatures, as I have, at both the state level in
the State Senate for six years and at the federal
legislature in the House of Representatives for two
years. And ! mean no disrespect to any other
profession, but the law is the finest possible
training-—-you can mess it up after the fact, of
course-~but it’s the fFinest passible training for a
career in government and most especially 1in
legislative undertakings. and, of course, it's Just
the sine qua non of acting in the judiciary, even
though technically under the United States
Constitutiaon you don't have to he a lawyer to be a
member of the U.S. Supreme Court, hut you do for all
other levels of the federal bench.

Along the line of politics and the law profession,
and more specifically politics, you were a Democrat.
Were you a Democrat befaore undertaking your legal
career. Were you a life-long Democrat ar did you
come to that decision later?

My mother says that her first perceptions of my
political persuasion were manifested while I was yet
unborn, and [’'m sure she’s right.

Okay.
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MeNulty: No. I, I don’t think I knew people who were
Republicans until [ must have been twelve or thirteen
years old, 1 just, I didn’'t know--we thought of
Repuhlicans as being aliens and rich and Protestant,
and not visihle to any of the rest of us. We thought
in Boston that If it rained on election day that the
Democrats would win because we thought the Democrats
were all rough-neck working people who didn’'t mind
going out in the rain, whereas the Republicans were
effete and they would not do so.

August: The same in Arizona, when you became politically
active out here?

McNulty: Well, Arizona was really a different case to me. ['d
say Arizona was a Confederate state 1n its political
camplexion in 1846, Yes, they were all Democrats,
but they were very conservative southern-style
Democrats. There were no Republicans here, either.
And, of course, that was caonsistent with what I'd
seen before, but that, that very rapidly changed.

The state voted for Truman in 1548 and hasn’'t vated
for a Democratic naminee for president since.

August: The party leadership, the Democratic party
leadership, was it comprised largely of lawyers?
When you became involved politically?

MeNulty: UWell, I'm sure I was involved almost as quickly as I

got here. The great figures were Sidney LP.2 Osborn
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and Carl ET.]'Hagden, Ernest [W.] McgFarland. OF them
I think anly McFarland uwas frained in the law.

Now moving along this topic, the appointment of
Judges, in your ohservation, has, how has paolitics
played a role in the appointment of Jjudges? And
could you givé us some specifics?

Well, I don't think it’'s played any different role
teday than it always did. The old expression is that
a Judge is a lawyer who knew a governor, was true
before and true now., The state in those days when I
first came here elected all its judges, Supreme Court
on down and they ran for office. UWell, as the state
grew blgger and more sophisticated they thought that
they should have judges who would stay in office
subject only ta being taken cut of office hy the so-
called Missouri Plan, under which people check an
answer on their ballot in response to thé guestion,
Should judge so and so be retalned? Once or twice
since we’ve had that system, I believe the people, a
majority of the people, answered, No, but most of
them they answered, Yes. Now in the rural counties
the Superior Court Judges stiil run for office,
because they treasured that right. 1 was in the
state senate when we were considering the plan and
the larger urban areas were willing to try it and we

were willing to allow them to try it, but we weren’t
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willing to try it ourselves. In time, though,
because of the population figure, there won't be, in
another twenty years, there wan’t be any elections
for Judges at all. Frankly, I don’t have that much
reluctance about electing judges. They say that
people will pander to the public and I think at its
warst it might be that, Other people will say it’'s a
good lesson in a little garden-variety humility for a
man to go out or a weman to go out and ask you to
vote for them for judge. So I don’t think any real
harm came from it, [ do grant, though, that the
urban areas wound up with some really poor choices of
Judges under the old elective system, But the truth
still ls that probably eighty to ninety percent of
all the judges in Arizona today originally began
their careers with a8 gubernataorial appointment,

In your career one of the major themes or
develeopments in the past three decades has been the
feminization of the-Bar.

Yes.

Or the increasing number of women.

Yes.

Could you comment on the impact that has had, perhaps
specifically and then generally?

Well, I don’'t know that it’s had an impact on the Bar

generally. Clearly there were some misogynists who

45



August:

McNulty:

hated to see that happen, who resented it and who
thought that the world had come to an end. For my
part I don’'t see that the Bar is different because of
the fFact that there are so many wemen practitiomers.
They seem to me to handle themselves as well as male
lawyers, if indeed there is (chuckles) any symptom aof
being a male or a female lawger. [ dan’t think that
the Bar has suddenly become a far finer place or that
there was some very exceptional or unusual qualities
that women brought to the practice, [ think they
come with their share ¢of commitments and shortcomings
to the same degree as men do. So I don’'t see
anything other than that it's fairer now and that a
woman can aspire to a legal career and expect to be
successful In it and not have to knock down all the
prejudices that would have been the case thirty years
ago. ! wouldn’'t claim either that there aren’t still
a few rocks in their path, but, by and large, the Bar
has made the transition and without really bruising
itself and certainly without impairing the quality of
professional efforts that it offers the public.

The Bar as an institution in and of itself, what role
has it played in the legal profession and is it
changing? The institution of the Bar?

The best way to answer that question is to say that

some states had integrated Bars and same didn’t.
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Now, the guy in the street is going to think
immediately that by a state integrated Bar I mean
someone that has black and white and brown and red
and yellow members. But that isn’t what the
expression meant twenty-five years ago. It meant,
somebody has got to be a member of a state bar
saciety or some smaller geographical unit as a
condition to practicing. Now the freewheelers 1in the
ald days would have been agalnst that. "Now, once
you pass the bar away you go." And the people who
were a little less sanguine about folks staying on
the up and up believe we should have an integrated
Bar and I am and was one of those. You've got to be
a member of the State Bar of Arizona as a condition
to practicing in this state. That gives us a body to
lock down your shoulder if you make mistakes and an
ally in the Supreme Court to punish you if you don’'t
staop making the mlistakes or 1F the mistakes are
beyond mere hand slapping.

That brings up kind of a curious situation. 1
suppose the majority of the members of the State Bar
of Arizona would be zealously favorably dispaosed
toward the Right-to-Work Law, which means that you
can wark in the Morenci Pit for Phelps-Dodge Company
and not be a member of the union. Even before the

strike and the decertification of the union. I
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should have used ancther place. I°'ll use Sierrita
Mine down here and Duval or Asarco’s operation up at
Hayden, any of the unionized copper operations. Why
you don't have to belang to the Steeiuworkers to bé
represented by them and to be able to obhlige them to
present your grievance as a member of a union,
without paying any dues. That's betause we have a
Right-to-Work Law, as do, as have a numher of states,
and that’'s why the Taft-Hartley Bill put in a
pravision, a federal law to allow thaﬁ to occur. And
tlearly the people of Arizona very strongly favor the
Right-to-Work Law, as they have voted on several
occasions showing that. And now having said all of
that, would you extend the same philosophy to the
State Bar of Arizona? The integrated Bar to which
you must be received, into which you must pay dues,
and of which you must he a member as a condition
precedent to your practicing law. The two things are

philasaophically irreconcilable.

So I have fun, maybe, pulling people by the ear
a little bit on that subject. But I think the
integrated Bar is necessary; it offers us the bhest
hope of people policing themselves. That's a commaon
expression that you hear., Particularly from the
professions that profit so much from their particular

skills, medicine and law caming immediately to mind.
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They also have the capacity for great abuse of
members of the public and wé want measures to deal
with that. The theory is that these professions will
police themselves., 1 would not sit here tonight and
tell you that that theory has always manifested
itself healthily in a public way when the chips were
down., But it’'s better than nothing at all. And it
seems to me that the professions are making an effort
to acquit themselves of that responsibllity in an
ever more positive and public-spirited way. I hope
that's the case.

Well, good. Perhaps another theme not, perhaps, so
earth shattering, but what raole have fratermnal and
professional associations played in your career? In
your legal career. 1 noticed down here, you're a
member of the Arizona Bar Foundation, the American
Bar Assoclation, the Pima County Bar Assoclation. If
you could comment briefly on those.

I guess [’'d have to say they haven’t played a very
significant part in my life. 1 belong to the
American Bar Association out of a sense of duty and
the Pima County Bar Association as well, [ treasure
the ability to practice law and to be a member of the
fraternity that’s allowed to do that and my
membership in those things is just a method of

expressing in both a financial and moral way my
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support of their general goals and objectives. [ go
to Bar meetings and Bar conventions and Bar seminars,
but I do that partly for social purposes and partly
for trying to keep myself halfuway decently updated on
developments and new developments in the law,
Given the press of time, and perhaps the reason we're
doing this tonight, I think we’d be remiss if we
didn’t cover a little bit more. If we can segue from
topical material to, again, biographical material,
yau served in the State Legislature of Arizona. . .
I did.

. for six years. When were you first elected?
I was elected in 1368, when a fellow named Dan (S.1
Kitechel, who had been a state senator from Bisbee,
came to me and said he was not running anymore and I
was hls personal choice and that if I ran he would
never say thaﬁ and that his support for me would be
very quiet, because he didn’t believe in people
passing along some honbr like this; that he came to
me because he admired the way I felt about things, my
political philosophy, and he hoped that I would
succeed him but that I couldn’'t expect much in the
way of overt help from him, [ felt that way about
him. [ thought Dan Kitchel was a great man, and I
still think it.

So I ran in 1968 and I was elected very handily
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From a district that included Graham, Greenlee, parts
of Graham, Greenlee, Conchise, perhaps then even Santa
Cruz County. I ran again in 1970, mainly because I’'d
been chosen by the Eagle Institute as one of twenty-
five members of state houses of representatives
across America that was supposed tao he talented--
that was the claim anyway--and they flew us to
Florida for a week in which we concentrated under the
direction of some great, well-known political fFigures
on problems that arise 1h'government and methods of
solving them. That was & very interesting
experience, and Eagle Institute has traditionally
brought together some extremely competent public
elected officials.

In 1972 1 didn’t run. The Republicans put ten
incumbent Democratic state senators into five
districts, from each of which only ane could be
elected, And I'd had encugh and I asked my friend
Charles Awalt from Safford, he and [ had been
combined, to run for the job and I told him I'd
support him. He wanted to do it the other way
around, but I won the argument and he ran. And in a
very sad turn of events he was dead by, 1 think,
April or May of 1973, and the boards of supervisors
of Greenlee, Graham and Cochise County voted that I

should succeed him and flnish his term. So I missed
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by four, five months, I guess, of serving six years
in the state Senate.

Your primary constituency there, mining? Ranching?
Yes. Yes, mining. It would have been Bisbee and
Douglas and Safford, Clifton and Merenci. But you
see in three terms I had three entirely different
districts. The guys--well, really I'm not being too
partisan--the Republicans kept playing games with the
one~man—-aone-vaote rule. So I was ong of two senatars
from a district that was Santa Cruz, Cochise, Graham,
Greenlee, maybe even part of Pima one term. The next
term I had another term, angther district which ended
right outside my house and included the Arizona
Sonora Desert Museum. Now you had to work pretty
hard to put the City of Bisbhee and the Arizona Sonora
Desert Museum in the same district, but they did.

And I used to kid about driving from Bisbee to the
Tucson Estates and the Museum, that I drove in and
out of my district four times before [ arrived. Then
the third time it was Cochiss, Graham and Greenles
Counties. So mining, yes, but ranching and even part
of the urban, suburban parts of Tucson were in
districts that I represented at ane time ar another.
What was your relationship with the governor or
governors at the time? Before we lsave your senate

career.
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The governor was Jack Williams whe had nothing but
kind words for me and vice versa. [ very strongly
disagreed with most eof his political Jjudgements. But
I haven't been a partisan perscon by and large and [
have tried to conduct myself like a professional
legislator and to examine issues and to criticize
them just as harshly as they deserve. But never to
assume that the person advancing the issue and the
issue were the same thing. And so I think when. I was
chosen in 1870 as the most liked and most respected
and most abhle member of the Arizona State Senate, in
a senate that was dominated by the Republicans,

that's some evidence that I succeeded in that goal.

Tape 2, Side 1

August:

MeNulty:

August:

McNulty:

August:

Any piece of legislation from your State Senate
career that is most pleasing?

I was on the conference committee of what was then
the state’s strongest anti-pollution law--in, 1
think, 1570 or perhaps 1371--and that was really a
landmark piece of legisletion.

Also you served as a member of the Arizoné Board of
Regents.

I did,

What period was that ard . . .
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From 1880 to 1983, that was an enormous amount aof
work hut a great experiencep Especially for tuo
reasons. One was that I was appointed by President
Tom Chandler as chairman of the Intercollegiate
Athletic Committee where we started a program to make
everyone believe that we were sick and tired of
wretched things happening in the athletic programs at
all three schools, but particularly University of
Arizona and Arizona State University. And I think
that from that day forward the three schools have had
fine records and pretty decent people running the
programs. We also made them kegp a running account
of the grade averages of the scholarship athletes and
to supply us with advice as to the graduation ratio
of these scholarship athletes because we thought, if
they’'re not getting a degree on a regular basis there
has to be some reason for that. Well, ail the
schools put in tutoring programs and monitoring in a
very vigorous way and the N.C.A.A. has now maved in
that direction, but we were doing it before they
were. The second thing was to serve as chairman of
the selection committee faor a new president at the
University of Arizona and to serve as a memher of the
selection committee for a new president for Arizona
State University. So I was in on the selection of

both President Nelson and President [Henryl Koffler
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and that was a great experience.

Would you care to elaborate in any way on either of
those appointments?

The process was very time consuming. 1 guess we
reviewed a couple of hundred applications in each
instance and we refined those down to a hundred and
then perhaps forty-five and finally we got down to
the point where we interviewed perhaps fifteen people
and out of that we re-interviewed another five people
and then we thrashed around like you wouldn’'t bellieve
trying to decide on the five, But the Board of
Regents got the five names and chose one of the five.
Yes, 1t was immensaly interesting and the enormous
talent of the people that applied was a great
reinforcer of my admiration for the University of
Arizona. Not uncritical, but admiring.

Finmally, we should touch on your period as
Congressman from Arizona. What prompted you in the
first place to run?

I had run for United States Senate in 1980.

Yes,

So I had big ideas from way back. When the neuw
gerrymandering came along in 1881, to be in place for
the elections of 1982, it was clear to me there was a
chance for a Dehocrat in Congressional District S,

which had been drawn by a Tucson Republican, who was
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chairman of the Arizona State Senate Judiciary
Committee. His predecessor ten years ago had done
the same thing. 5o these guys, quite legally, bhad
defined districts with computers and machines as very
sophisticated work in which they think they can win.
Well, I was stubborn enocugh to think maybe I could
win, and in a non-presidential year. So I announced,
I guess about a week after my father died. My mother
had died the year before. éAnd had he lived I might
not have done it. But when he passed away I Jjust
decided now was the time, and the last day of March
1882, only four months away from the election, I
said, "“Here [ go." I had no money and no manager and
no office space or anything else, but neither did
anybody else so that made it fair.

Did you consult closely with the head of the, with
the chalrman of the Democratic Commlttee? It must
have been Sam [Samuel P.] Goddard at the time.

It was. Oh, sure. I, I had been close to the party
all those years and still am, and so I communicated
my resolve. But Just shortly before 1 made the
announcement, on a onday at the Oemocrats aof Greater
Tucson over here at the, what was then the Levy’s
Department Store. And the next day I began.

You defeated Jim CJames T.]l Kolhe that time?

[ did.
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A close election?

Just twenty-five hundred votes.

Yes, UWell, we'll get specific. Your two years in
office, any general impressions at this point?

Most exciting job I ever had. Big calls, important
calls.

Okay.

Central America. Nicaragua, MX's and general
policies of war or peace. Spending money.
Pricorities. National, globhal consequences,
Important things. And 1t was most exciting.

Which committees were you on?

The Interior Committee and the Public Works
Committee.

Interior, therefore--What problems did you work on
which affected Arizona®?

We had the bill to allow the replacement of the
turbines in Grand Canyon Dam For much larger turbines
with a far greater capacity. Millions and millions
of dollars worth of additional electricity. and not
only the decision to replace thaose turbines but ths
decision as to where that additional electricity was
going to flow because it was up for grabs. And we
were able to strike an excellent deal for the state
aof Arizana, which was justifliable in my opinicon, and

did so,
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The Central Arizona Project?

Was principally a matter of appearing regularly
before the Appropriations Subcaommittee that
controlled interior projects. But that really was
Just a Kind of a performance. The gavernor would fly
in and the senators and the congressmen would go down
there and do a little ritual performance. In fact,
Congressman [Morris K.J Udall and the chairman of
that committee, Congressman Bevill, they made those
decisions quietly over lunch one day and it was
pretty much pro forma after that.

Were you working closely, during your two years, with
Congressman Udall?

Well, sure. He was chairman of the Interior
Department [Committeel and I have one particularly
memorable moment on the floor of the House of
Representatives when this hill dealing with this
power for Hoover Dam was under assault from some of
the congress, congressiaonal membhers fraom the big
cities. And when all voting bhad expired the vote was
198, Yes, 198 votes No, which meant it had failed.
And Cangressman Udall--he doesn’t, he can’'t run
around that chamber as well as he used to because of
the Parkinson’s {[diseasel]l--he and [ were sitting
there together, and he lonked up at the board where

every member of Congress’'s name is shown with a red
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light or a green light indicating how you have voted
and waved at the man wha was presiding over the
chamber, of the Committee of the Wheole, meaning don’t
announce the vote. The minute it’'s announced it’s
all over. And he locked aver those names and he
said, "Is Bcb‘Garcia an the fleoor?" Congressman
Robert Garcia, he’s a Puerto Rican; he represents
part of the Bronx fraom New York City. [ locked
around and said, “Yes.” He saild, "Get him quick."
And I ran up and sald, "“Bah, Mo wants you." And he
said, "0Oh, yes.” And he just came sprinting down.

He got to Congressman Udall and the congressman said,
"Bob, I see you voted no on this measure, Is it
samething about which you have a real conviction? Or
is it something about which you could change your
mind?" And Ccngréssman Garcia said, "It is something
about which I can change my mind." And Mo said, “1I'd
appreciate it very much.," Garcla ran down into the
well, where there are little cards that you can pick
up, sign them, and erase your previous vote. And he
picked up a green card and signed it and that was put
into the machine. It cancelled out the red light,
the No vote, and changed the 198 to 1898 into a 139-
1897 Yes. And Congressman Udall kind of waved at the
fellow who was chairing the Committee of the Whole

and the guy hit the gavel down and shouted, “By your
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vote of 1393 to 187 you have passed H.R.2354.,"
Fascinating story.

Yes, indeed. And the consequences of that anyway you
want to measure them, kilowatts or dollars, the
future of Arizopa, Southern California, it's almost
beyond any kind of a mathematical judgement. But it
was encrmously important!

Perhaps one other general statement, given time
constraints. You were in Congress as a [Democrat
during, really perhaps, the height of the Reagan
Revolution. One of the more conservative political
eras inour . . .

Yes,

. » history of the Twentieth Century. Any general
comments about that and how you represented your
canstituents in that context?

Well I tried to represent them as best I knew how.
That’'s always the maost vague kind of a question and
it calls on really subjective, almost purely
subjective analyses and conclusions and the like.

But my general disposition was to refrain from
spending money recklessly, to keep a strong defense
without beggaring ourselves, to have a taxing system
that was reasonably fair, to have a foreign policy
that was decently enlightened, and to have some sense

of compassion for those who had the very least in our
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soclety. And [’ve often said that the bulk of the
questions that are asked around this chamber are, How
far apart are you willing to allow the pocles of
sdcietg to become? In my view they're as far or
further than the soclety can wholesomely tolerate.
And so I was not willing to let the distance hetween
the two grow greater. In the meantime, of course,
the current administration has canvinced middle class
America that it is supporting a whole race of
malingerers and sccfflawé. We have fed the people
the idea that they’'re being discriminated against by
the ne’'er-do-wells. And out of that has come a very
utilitarian, and in my view, ultimately unhealthy
kind of a pelitical atmosphere, one which defines
government as the enemy.

It has been fiscally the most reckless six years
in the history of the nation. We have doubled our
national deht in five-and—a-half years. It took us
two hundred years to create the first trillilon
dallars of debt; it took us five-and-a-half years to
create the next trillion dollars worth aof debt, and
hefore President Reagan leaves office, we’'ll he
perhaps two-and-a-half trillion dollars in debt.
Meanwhile we will have spent money for the Defense
Department at a silly rate. HMore money than the

Defense Department could spend intelligently. And
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there’ve been so many awful examples of that sort of
thing. It isn’t because the Defense Department is
run by croocks; it’'s that in pumping a billion dollars
a day into that defense system--which is very nearly
what we do--it is beyond the cepacity of the system
to absorb that kind of a8 monetary infusion in a
sensible, useful way.

So, for all of those reasons, [ voted against
the MX; I am very uneasy about our infatuation with
nuclear instruments aof war; I don't believe our
Central American policies are sensible. In fact, 1
think the most recent hundred million dollars of my
money sent to the Contras wastes my money, doesn’'t
change what will essentially be a stalemate down
there other than to make it a bloodler stalemate. 1
think if people can work they ought to work, but
having said that I'm going to think long and hard
about discontinuing‘food pragrams far children and
hot lunches in the poorest parts of this country or
our attempts to aid in education. There are lots of
problems, but we’'re not going to sclve them by being
angry at the institutlions that are at hand to deal
with them, however ilmperfect they are. So that’s
the kind of disposition, generally, I brought to the
task., And it was not found to be sufficiently

appealing to tide me through a 1984 election which I
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McNulty:
August:

McNulty:

August:

McNulty:

lost by 6000 votes.
Did you have any premonition when you were cunning
for re-election that this wave . . .
Oh yes,

» + or this--or that you were
Oh yes. Yes. I, we had tracking polls right along.
And it was one or two points week after week after
week. And then I was portrayed as being indifferent
to the rape and murder of a little newspaper girl in
one of the Republican National Committee
advertisements. And I was portrayed as being "always
on the side of the criminal” in the language of my
opponent’s brochures. And I was running when a very
popular President was alsgo running. He scored sixty-
three or sixty-four percent af the vote while HMr.
Mondale was scoring thirty—-seven percent. Our race
was very nearly a fFifty-fifty race. 5o, I made up a
lot of that ground, but it was a hard thing to
overcome.
Perhaps this has already been published, but is there
any future of you running again? Either for congress
or a public office?
(laughs) Who knows? 1'm healthy and no less crazy
than 1 was twa, four and six years agon. And If an
opportunity comes along, I might well look at it. I

like the work very much. And I was a good
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congressman., [ don’t know how to say that in a
sufficiently humble way, so I wan’'t bother. But I
took the system for what it was and wasn’'t angry
about that. [ worked very hard; I attended committee
meetings Faithfully. I read and informed myself as
fully as possible. I was the only freshman in the
twentieth century to over-ride the president on a
bill dealing with water research efforts at land-
grant colleges.

That 1s an important point. Could elaborate aon that
since we have about a few minutes left.

The administration wanted to kill the program. The
land-grant schools wanted to continue it. It passed
the House by a voice vote which gives you an idea how
little controversial i1t was there. 1t passed the
Senate by big numbers and we never had an inkling
that it was going to be turned down, but. David
Stockman wrote a letter to the President and darned
if he didn't veto it. So I went to the Senate
sponsor of the bill, Senator James Ahbdnor of South
Dakota, asked him what he was going to do and he
said, loyal Republican though he was, he Jjust simply
had no cholice but to override the president. He just
didn’t want te do it in an ugly way or a mean way.
That’'s okay with me, 1 didn’t either. Well, we

conferred regularly and I talked to the leadership in
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the House, which didn't believe me I might say.
Thought that was really kind of silly, a guy in my
position, been on board thirteen months. But aone day
Senator Abdnor said, "Tamorrow morning." And by
golly he did it., And I ran and broke in on a
leadership meeting. Told them about it. And Jim
[James] Wright said, "Well, maybe we can do it
tomorrow." [ had some very excellent help, Dr. John
LX.] Crow, a member of the Faculty here at the
University of Arizgna had researched previous
averride attempts, and said, "You know, it's peculiar
to me, but any time there’s an aoverride, both bodies
do it within a very short pericd of one another." So
I asked Mr. Wright to reconsider about doing it right
away. And he said, wWell, he'd thing about it. And
then the Speaker of the House said, "There’ll bhe no
thinking to it. We’re going on the floor at eleven
o’'clock and do it."

We found out that the White House had started a
telephone hlitz at nine o’clock that morning, trying
to get the Republicans in iine, because had they all
voted against overriding the veto the bill would have
been dead. UWell, we were fortunate in having a
number of Republican senators from the wWest
particularly with strong ties to the loecal land grant

schools and oh, [ don’t know, Colorado and New Mexico
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and so an. And we ran around and carried the vote.
We got 241 out of 242 Democrats. And I felt very
good about that. You've done a hell of a job when
you get that kind of a turnout. We got 63
Republicans voting with us to override and BO ;oting
to support the veto. So we came within Five or six
people of splitting right down the middle with the
Repuhlicans. And, aof course, that carried the day in
an enormous way. And that was very satisfying.
Well, might as well Finish up then with--That's it?
Okay. Thanks.

Okay.

All right. Thank you.

End of interview.
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